

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Relationship Between CEO Gender, Hospital Size, and Urban, Rural Location

Levinda Walpole Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Levinda Rios Walpole

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Miriam Ross, Committee Chairperson, Health Sciences Faculty Dr. Fawzi Awad, Committee Member, Health Sciences Faculty Dr. Suzanne Richins, University Reviewer, Health Sciences Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Relationship Between CEO Gender, Hospital Size, and Urban, Rural Location

by

Levinda Walpole

MBA/HCM, University of Phoenix, 2005

BSN, Houston Baptist University, 1987

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Healthcare Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

Leadership diversity concerning gender is important in the health care sector because diversity encourages problem solving from different perspectives. The purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine whether there was a relationship between CEO gender and the size of nonprofit hospitals and rural/urban location of hospitals in Texas. The independent variables were hospital bed size, which was categorized according to various groupings, and rural/urban areas in Texas. The dependent variable was gender (male and female). The theoretical framework that grounded this study was the perspective of organizational culture and the leader's role based on the competing values framework. Data were collected from 460 entries from Datacaptive, which contained nonprofit hospitals in 2019 from urban and rural sites throughout 254 counties in Texas. Linear regression, Mann-Whitney U, and Kruskal-Wallis statistical methodologies were used to analyze whether there was a relationship between hospitals' size, location, and CEO gender. there was no statistically significant association between the size and location of hospitals and the gender of the CEO, there was a considerable disparity between the number of male and female CEOs. Further research is recommended to determine the association between hiring practices throughout the United States related to gender, leadership position, and hospital size to provide information concerning diversity. Current study results may encourage examination of hospital board hiring practices and create awareness for positive social change, which includes leadership diversity in health care organizations.

Relationship Between CEO Gender and Hospital Size and Urban, Rural Location

by

Levinda Walpole

MBA/HCM, University of Phoenix, 2005

BSN, Houston Baptist University, 1987

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Healthcare Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

I want to dedicate this research to the health care professionals who have felt they may have been passed over to lead health care organizations due to their biocharacteristics and academic background. Such people add variability, are competent, are experts in their field, and exhibit intrinsic leadership styles that may improve the overall performance of the health care organization and the community at large.

Acknowledgments

I would like to first give all praise to my heavenly Father for his mercy and grace to allow me to share this work with others; for my husband, Herb, whose patience and encouragement reflect God's love; for my daughters, Andrea and Bianca, who have cheered me on to complete this goal; and for my family, colleagues, and friends for their never-ending support. A special thank you to Dr. Mary Wylie, whose notable example of mentorship challenged me to continue the DHA journey. With gratitude, a special acknowledgment goes to the committee members, Dr. Fawzi Awad and Dr. Suzanne Richins, for their professional guidance. Most importantly, a heartfelt appreciation for Dr. Miriam Ross, whose incredible leadership, patience, and gentle coaching spirit permitted me to stay focused to accomplish a lifelong goal.

Table of Contents

List of Tablesiv
List of Figuresv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review1
Problem Statement
Purpose
Research Questions and Hypotheses4
Theoretical Foundation
Nature of the Study7
Literature Review Search Strategy
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts
Hospitals9
Nonprofit Hospitals9
Community Hospitals11
Rural Hospitals11
Bed Size13
Texas Hospitals
Selection of CEOs14
Organizational Structure and Gender15
Demographics of CEOs16
Leadership and Gender17
Gender Selection of CEO19

Lite	erature Review Conclusion	.21
Def	initions of Key Terms	.22
Ass	umptions	.24
Sco	pe and Limitations	.24
Sig	nificance	.24
Sun	nmary and Conclusion	.25
Section	2: Research Design and Data Collection	.27
Met	thodology	.27
Pop	pulation and Sampling	.28
	Inclusions	.28
	Exclusions	.28
	Instrumentation and Operationalization	.29
	Power Analysis	.29
Res	earch Questions and Hypotheses	.30
Det	ailed Analysis Plan	.31
Thr	eats to Validity	.32
	External Validity	.32
	Internal Validity	.32
Eth	ical Procedures	.32
Sun	nmary	.33
Section	3: Presentation of the Results and Findings	.34
Dat	a Collection of Secondary Data	.36

Data Filter Exclusions	36
Descriptive Characteristics of Sample and Population	
Study Results	40
Results of Statistical Analysis for Research Question 1	41
Summary Results of Research Question 1	45
Statistical Analysis for Research Question 2	46
Summary of Research Questions Results and Hypothesis	49
Summary	49
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social	
Change	51
Interpretation of the Findings	51
Research Question 1 Analysis	51
Research Question 2 Analysis	52
Findings to the Literature	53
Findings to Theory	54
Limitations of the Study	55
Recommendations	56
Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change	56
Conclusion	57
References	59

List of Tables

Table 1. Description and Operationalization of the Variables	.31
Table 2. Demographics and Descriptive Statistics of Final Sample	.38
Table 3. Description of the Variables	.40
Table 4. Overall Bed Size and Gender Mean and Sum of Ranks	.41
Table 5. Mann-Whitney U, Wilcoxon W, Z, Asym. Sig (2-tailed)-Bed Size	.42
Table 6. Mann-Whitney U Results for Gender and Bed Categories Size 1–5	.43
Table 7. Independent Samples Test for Bed Size-Leven's Test for Equality of Variance	S
	.44
Table 8. Binary Logistic Regression Bed Size Categories and Gender	.45
Table 9. Binary Logistic Regression of Gender and Urban/Rural Locations	66
Table 10. Kruskal Wallis Test Gender and Locations	.47
Table 11. Kruskal-Wallis Test, df, Asymp Sig for Grouping Variable of Gender and	
Location	.48

List of Figures

Figure 1. Competing Values Framework	7
Figure 2. F Tests Linear Multiple Regression: Fixed Model, R2 Deviation From Zero	
Analysis: A Priori: Compute Required Sample Size	30
Figure 3. Bed Size Groups	39
Figure 4. Location: Urban and Rural	39
Figure 5. Relationship Map of Gender and Location	48

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Hospitals are complex organizations with multiple organizational layers related to various medical services. Characteristics that differentiate hospitals include size, types of services, and locations (Render, 2017). Additionally, hospital system affiliations and academic teaching status have a strong influence on the social dimensions and organizational culture of hospitals. Hospital administrators also have an effect on hospital culture because they promote efficient processing of resources and staff while promoting quality care and a vision for the organization's future. Multifaceted demands that include state and federal requirements necessitate the need for knowledgeable CEOs and administrators (Borkowski, 2017; Furrow et al., 2018).

CEOs are responsible for providing strategic direction, identifying resources needed, achieving financial success, and leading the organization to fulfill the mission and vision while creating long-term strategic goals and commitments (Borkowski, 2017; Curry et al., 2018). Board selection of CEOs has traditionally stemmed from a pool of candidates consisting of health care or a business-trained pipeline of new leaders (American College of Healthcare Executives [ACHE], 2020). Some hospitals have an organized relationship with academia to transition future CEOs into a fellowship or residency program (ACHE, 2020). Diversity is essential throughout organizations, including senior management, because diversity provides cohesion and community representation (ACHE, 2020). Diversity is vital for the role of the CEO, which has traditionally been predominately male in hospitals (Alghamdi et al., 2017). The current study focused on bed size for nonprofit hospitals and rural/urban hospital locations to determine whether there was a relationship to CEO gender diversity.

Problem Statement

Population demographics in the United States have changed dramatically over the past decades. In July 2019, the U.S. population was estimated at over 328 million people, and gender was calculated at 50.8% female and 49.2% male (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2020). To meet the demands of health care consumers, health care leaders of tax-exempt hospitals corroborate with community stakeholders to create a community health needs assessment plan, as required in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (CDC, 2020; Furrow et al., 2018). Hospital leaders then use the assessment plan as part of their strategic plan to address the diverse community health concerns, including the need for staff diversity, which includes CEOs (CDC, 2020; Mills et al., 2019).

Recognition of the need for diversity and inclusion is acknowledged in many industries, including health care (Dye, 2018; Jayanthi, 2016). One of the main challenges found with the selection of health care leaders is to rely on their skills to achieve strategic objectives, including diversity and inclusion training competencies (Dye, 2018). Improving CEO gender diversity and inclusion may necessitate a reexamination of hospital boards' hiring processes to select chief executive officers (Augustin & Stumpf, 2018; Borkowski, 2017). Hospital leaders may display implicit bias to ensure leadership teams consist of like-kind members, even as they give verbal support to a diverse culture (Borkowski, 2017; Grubbs, 2020; Henkel, 2016). The research problems addressed in the current study concerned whether there was a relationship between the CEO gender and the size of nonprofit hospitals and rural/urban locations of hospitals (see Grubbs, 2020; Henkel, 2016). Although there have been studies about associations between CEOs' professional backgrounds and quality measures, there was a research gap concerning the associated of CEO gender with the size of the hospital and rural/urban locations (see Mkwandawire, 2017).

Purpose

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine whether there was a relationship between CEO gender and the size of nonprofit hospitals and their rural/urban locations. The independent variables assessed were hospital bed size, which was categorized as small, medium, and large hospitals, and their rural/urban locations. The dependent variable was gender. This study may influence the board of directors to reevaluate internal succession planning for those who aspire to become a CEO from within the health system but struggle to move up to a chief executive position due to gender.

This study focused on data concerning over 600 nonprofit hospitals in the U.S. state of Texas. For comparison, there are over 3,000 nonprofit hospitals nationwide, 1,300 for-profit hospitals, and over 10,000 state and local government hospitals. Key distinctions in the operation and management of nonprofit and for-profit hospital organizations are related to the Internal Revenue Service (Kahn, 2019). A nonprofit is considered a charity by the Internal Revenue Service, and nonprofit hospitals must comply with governing guidelines providing certain benefits to the community. Nonprofit hospitals do not pay income, state, and local property taxes and may be affiliated with a particular religious denomination (Furrow et al., 2018). In contrast, for-profit hospitals are owned by investors or shareholders of a publicly traded company. Nonprofit hospitals provide more uncompensated care than for-profit hospitals, while both exist in diverse communities (Kahn, 2019).

The results of the current study may be significant for several reasons. The results may add to the understanding of possible contributing factors associated with a hospital's bed size and location and the executive leadership selection according to gender. Understanding this information may promote insights for hospital boards to assess historical and current hiring and selection strategies. This study may motivate hospital leaders to complete an internal review of current practices of CEO selection within their organizations.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: Is there a statistically significant relationship between the bed size of nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the bed size of nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO.

 H_a1 : There is a statistically significant relationship between the bed size of nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO.

RQ2: Is there a statistically significant relationship between urban/rural nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between urban/rural hospitals and gender of the CEO.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between urban/rural hospitals and the gender of the CEO.

Theoretical Foundation

The theoretical framework that grounded this study was the perspective of organizational culture and the leader's role based on the competing values framework (see Lee et al., 2021). Cameron and Quinn (2011), the creators of the competing value framework, posited that there are two competing types of prioritizing values that leaders face within the organizations. The degree to which the leader engages the organization can result in two dimensions (Lee et al., 2021). The two dimensions consist of internal and external activities (first dimension) and the degree to which the organization (or leader) is flexible or maintains stability (second dimension). The results establish clan (collaborative), hierarchical (controlling), adhocracy (creative), and market (competitive) organizational cultures (Lee et al., 2021; O'Neill et al., 2021).

The logical connection between the framework and the purpose of the current study included connecting the size of the hospital and the CEO leader. The competing organizational culture framework was associated with different management styles (Azad et al., 2017). In the clan culture, the CEO guides the organization to pay close attention to interpersonal relations using targeted training to enhance performance and creating mentorship programs for new training initiatives (Joseph & Kibera, 2019). The hierarchy culture represents the CEO ensuring accountability on strict guidelines (Calciolari et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2021). Adhocracy culture is rooted in innovation and malleability, which encourages staff to be creative. This creativity contributes to high profit margins (Joseph & Kibera, 2019). In a market culture, the leader inspires the rest of the team to develop and maintain positive external customer relationships. When the leader communicates a clear organizational vision of innovation, this encourages a creative workplace leading to diversity (Goryachev, 2018).

As shown in Figure 1, leaders move to the left indicating a more inward focus and move to the right indicating an outward focus on the external environment. The vertical management defines management structure and decision making. The lower end reflects management control, whereas the upper indicates empowered employees to make choices.

Figure 1



Competing Values Framework

Note. Adapted from Cameron and Quinn (2011); Competing Values Framework (n.d.).

The organization's values play a critical role in health care performance (Akindele et al., 2016; Onday, 2016). Today's hospital leaders must meet Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services's (CMS) legislative mandates, which require an influential trailblazer to set the institution's cultural tone. Values, attitudes, and norms are established and developed into initiative taking and well-coordinated personnel to influence the system to improve organizational performance (Furrow et al., 2018; Lee et al., 2021).

Nature of the Study

To address the research questions, I used a quantitative, correlative, descriptive design to assess the relationship between the independent and dependent variables. The two independent continuous (interval/ratio) variables were bed size and urban/rural locations. The dependent categorical variable of CEO gender was used to run a statistical regression analysis. Regression analysis is used to examine the relationships between a set of variables to ascertain the best fit (Laerd Statistics, 2018). This methodology enhanced the reliability and validity of the current results. Secondary data set from an industrial business marketing data source, Datacaptive were used to answer the research questions. A public list of Texas hospitals was found in Texas Hospitals Directory hosted by the Texas Hospital Association (2021) for consumer information.

Literature Review Search Strategy

To better understand the association between the organizational size of nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO, I used several databases to retrieve the most current literature on hospital structure, bed size, and factors that affect the demographics of the chief executive gender. Selected articles relating to the type and size of hospitals and articles relating to CEO gender were identified. The keywords searched were *gender*, *hospital CEO*, *leadership and gender*, *CEO characteristics*, *hospital leaders*, *manager traits*, *leadership traits*, *leadership heterogeneity*, *hospital leadership*, *gender performance*, *diversity and hospital leaders*, and *gender performance* through the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), Medline National Library of Medicine, PubMed, Thoreau, and EBSCO multisite host database search and Google Scholar. The publication dates for scholarly articles ranged from 2016 to 2021.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts

The purpose of the literature review was to enumerate, specify, analyze, synthesize, and provide an objective comprehensive summary of previous research

studies about hospital size (the independent variable) and gender of CEO (the dependent variable). The literature review was divided into five subsections: (a) hospitals, (b) bed size, (c) organizational structure and gender, (d) demographic of chief executive officers, and (e) leadership and gender.

Hospitals

For centuries, leaders have formed places to care for the sick. From ancient Greece to the evolution of hospitals in the Western world, care locations have transformed from charitable guesthouses to scientific centers (Sri & Sing, 2016). Disease progression, economic shifting, geographic locations, religion, ethnicity, growth, and perceived needs of the population are foundational tenets by which health service organizations are formed (CDC 2021). The American Hospital Association conducts annual surveys of over 6,200 hospitals within the United States and produces a comprehensive data set that includes system characteristics and behaviors to understand today's hospital characteristics. Noted key hospital characteristics include ownership status, type of hospital, bed size, and community outreach participation (Cronin & Garlington, 2021). There are over 5,000 community hospitals throughout the United States, of which 2,900 are nongovernment not-for-profit community hospitals. There are 1,200 for-profit, investor-owned facilities and approximately 900 state and local government community hospitals (American Hospital Association, 2021).

Nonprofit Hospitals

Critical distinctions between for-profit and nonprofit hospitals include how taxes are completed (Kahn, 2019). Nonprofit hospitals are viewed as a charity by the Internal Revenue Service and must comply with governing guidelines providing certain benefits to the community. Nonprofit hospitals do not pay federal, state, or local property taxes and may be affiliated with a particular religious denomination (Furrow et al., 2018). Forprofit hospitals are owned by investors or shareholders of a publicly traded company. Nonprofit hospitals provide more uncompensated care than for-profit organizations, while both serve lower income populations (Kahn, 2019).

Since the 1960s, U.S. nonprofit hospitals have received significant tax-exempt status benefits provided charity care for uncompensated care is offered within the facility's financial bandwidth to do so (Furrow et al., 2018). With the passing of The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, qualifications for continuing tax-exempt status require completing a community benefit report triennially. This report includes a community needs assessment (Franz et al., 2021; Furrow et al., 2018; Rozier, 2020; Santilli et al., 2016). The community benefit report consists of a 3-year plan to grow a healthier community (CDC, 2020; Rozier, 2020; Santilli et al., 2016).

Hospitals are an essential foundation of every health system, and consumers rely on them for their care. As hospital executives keep abreast of the community needs, the board leaders selecting the organizational leaders evaluate processes to ensure the right CEO fits the organization and the community. In Texas, the CEOs selected for nonprofit hospitals must be aware of the challenges incurred by the political and legislative provisions of expanding access to consumers, which impacts volume and services (Blavin, 2016; Furrow et al., 2018). With Medicaid vouchers governed by each state, Texas chose not to participate, leaving more Texans without access to care, making Texas the highest uninsured state (Buettgens et al., 2018; Furrow et al., 2018; Holahan et al., 2021). The high uninsured rate places unnecessary financial burdens on the already highly uninsured Texas hospital industry, a challenge for the oncoming CEO (Buettgens et al., 2018).

Community Hospitals

The American Hospital Association (2021) and the Texas Organization of Rural and Community Hospitals (2017) defined community hospitals as nonfederal, short-term facilities that include specialty hospitals. These hospitals may focus on niche services such as women's, otorhinolaryngology, orthopedic, and postacute care and may consist of academic medical centers or teaching facilities. Winpenny et al. (2016) found that community hospitals in selected high-income countries provide a wide range of services and provisions to reflect the community's local needs. Community hospitals are staffed with general care practitioners, nurses, allied health personnel, and assistants. Pitchforth et al. (2017) studied community hospitals in the European National Health System and showed how health care has evolved from a rural setup to integrated health care delivery.

Rural Hospitals

With over 60 million people living in nonurban areas in the United States, Koser et al. (2020) found that rural areas have less access to primary and secondary care services. Rural populations comprising 15%–20% of the populace are nonmetropolitan counties based on the Office of Management and Budget's primary classification system using geographical areas. This measurement unit uses the Census Bureau's core metropolitan area and urban clusters of at least 10,000 people (U.S. Department of Health

and Human Services, 2020). Congress created rural hospitals, also known as critical access hospitals, under the Balanced Budget Act of 1997 to meet the needs of underserved communities. Critical access hospitals are an integral part of the rural health care system within communities and provide primary and long-term care (CMS, n.d.; Gaston & Walker, 2018).

Gaston and Walker (2018) noted that critical access hospitals operate and function like other smaller hospitals; however, they are reimbursed differently than Medicare acute care facilities on a cost-containment basis versus diagnosis-related groupings (American Hospital Association, 2021; CMS, 2022). In a study by Vaughn and Edwards (2020), more minor, rural, remote hospitals were geographically measured differently and were contingent on the context structure. Smaller facilities were deemed to be in rural and remote locations with higher levels of comorbidity, higher vulnerable populations, and higher critical work shortages.

Services offered by rural critical access hospitals include outpatient, home health, rehabilitation, hospice, long-term care, intensive care, surgery, and women's services, with lab and radiology services outsourced (Rural Health Information Hub, 2020). In a study conducted by X. Liu et al. (2020), rural hospital leadership's primary challenges involved prolonging the lives of terminally ill patients. In a study by the American Hospital Association (2021), although urban and rural hospitals were subject to the same regulatory obligations, rural hospitals suffered higher costs than their urban counterparts because of decreased hospital volumes and increased opioid epidemic challenges.

Bed Size

Differences between urban and rural hospitals include location, physical plant size, and bed occupancy availability. The average urban hospital is almost 5 times the size of the average rural hospital in terms of the number of beds (Rural Health Research Centers, 2020). Urban hospitals average 234 beds, while rural hospitals range from 30 to 80 beds (Rural Health Research Centers, 2020). According to a study by Farley et al. (2020), smaller rural hospitals represent fewer beds, have lower staffing, have delayed handoff between caregivers, have limited services, and have decreased community services leading to higher mortality in the specific diagnosis of cardiac care and hip fracture. Urban facilities provide experienced physicians and nurses, standardized protocols, and better access to education and follow-up care, thereby improving care and reducing mortality (Farley et al., 2020).

Texas Hospitals

In Texas, the state's hospitals are as diverse as the state's geography. The Texas Organization Rural and Community Hospitals asserted that 162 (62%) of Texas hospitals are rural (Texas Hospital Association, 2021). Due to Texas Medicare payment cuts in the last decade, more than 8% of Texas rural hospitals have closed (Texas Organization of Rural and Community Hospitals, 2017). Rural hospitals experience vacillation with inpatient volumes from two to 15 patients and provide less profitable services to the older, poor, and higher uninsured (about 17% uninsured) than their urban counterparts (Farley et al., 2020; Murphy et al., 2017). According to Dyrda (2017), over 4,700 acute care hospitals, critical access hospitals, and children's hospitals are listed in CMS's Medicare hospital compare report. Texas has the highest number of hospitals, with California averaging 341 and Florida at 186 (Dyrda, 2017).

As of 2020, the Texas Hospital Association showed ownership of Texas hospitals included government-owned, nonprofit, and investor-owned facilities equating to over 600 hospitals and 84,000 licensed beds. Houston had the highest number of hospitals (83) followed by Dallas County (43) and Tarrant County, located in Fort Worth Bexar County (San Antonio), with an equal amount of HSO's at 40 (Texas Hospital Association, 2021). Texas academic teaching facilities have 15% of the nation's 1,000 teaching facilities and are affiliated with local community hospitals, optimizing specialized care for the communities (Texas Hospital Association, 2021; American Hospital Association, 2021).

Selection of CEOs

Hospital boards and community leaders work together to make the position leadership roles attractive with financial incentives for hard-to-fill positions, such as those found in rural areas, to promote more stability and reduce CEO turnover. In a study by Hearld et al. (2019), nearly 25% of hospitals over 9 years demonstrated CEO turnover every 3 to 4 years, resulting in a higher turnover in rural versus urban geographical locations. Without a system enterprise affiliation, rural hospitals burdened with financial challenges may not afford and retain top CEO talent. Factors to consider in retaining CEOs for hard-to-fill areas include developing local talent through homegrown training; tuition reimbursement for physician leader CEOs; and outreach to ensure a good fit for the CEO, the organization, and the community (Hearld et al., 2019).

Organizational Structure and Gender

For purposes of the current study, gender identity was described as binary (male or female) based on the behavioral, social, cultural, and psychological traits historically attributed to biological sex (see Buolamwini & Gebru, 2018). Organizational performance is contingent on the type of leader guiding the organization to meet its key performance indicators and mission, vision, and strategy (Borkowski, 2017; Galstian et al., 2018). Today's health care CEOs confront challenges while leading their organizations through increased customer expectations, lower budgets, professional staff shortages, and economic and ethical issues.

In a decade-long longitudinal study of chief executive transition's top-performing skills, Carucci (2016) identified several attributes and strengths impacting performance among CEOs and their direct reports. Top-performing executives showed a deep-rooted knowledge of their entire organization for value creation. These executives produced high-quality hospital results, focused on improved operations in a competitive manner, exhibited appropriate decision making, used confidence and reliable priority setting, exhibited intuition, had industry knowledge, and formed trusting relationships with humility and grace. In a cross-sectional study, Galstian et al. (2018) suggested leader characteristics that support a positive patient hospital experience include greater risk-taking, readiness for change, and role modeling. Added strengths include evidence-based strategies on external environments, tactfulness, problem solving, transparency, and compassion, which may also help to support a positive consumer experience (Galstian et al., 2018)

In a 1992 study funded by Kodak grant, 400 CEOs from different geographical areas gathered to create a shared vision for the future of health care (Kodak, 1992, as cited in Janssen, 2004). This assembly was essential to determine the vision of health care for primary health care access to all. This strategic vision set the stage for rural and urban hospital CEOs to see health care reform as a crucial component of their companies' success. Health care reform impacts consumers differently, and CEOs must become knowledgeable about each type of hospital's challenges (Benzies et al., 2019).

Demographics of CEOs

According to the ACHE (2020), although significant dollars are invested in recruiting and retaining top talented individuals, the demographic composition of hospital CEOs has remained essentially unchanged for over a decade. Specifically, the proportion of women CEOs and compensation for nonprofit hospitals has remained static over the past 2 decades compared with men with similar health care management experience. Song et al. (2018) studied gender differences in hospital CEO compensation using extensive national sample data to assess gender differences of pay in nonprofit health care organizations. The results showed a variation of over \$130,000 associated with men making more than women in CEO positions. Female CEOs who worked for nonprofit hospitals earned 23% less than their male counterparts who worked in nonprofit HSOs.

CEO gender is a national concern in the United States and internationally and in other sectors outside of health care. Using extensive survey data of India's 9,000 firms via World Bank's Enterprise Surveys, Ali and Shabir (2017) found that female managers managed 8%; 15% showed female owners, with 36% of the 15% owning 50% of company shares. However, the markets of France, Sweden, and Germany offer institutions' top executive positions, and board seat representation is climbing related to gender quotas. Similarly, South Africa, Singapore, and Thailand appear to have higher gender diversity in executive positions. Moving hospital businesses forward depends on economic growth and other elements such as infrastructure, regulation, tangible and nontangible groundworks, and human factors. Ali and Shabir (2018) and Galstian et al. (2018) noted that human skill, training, education, and decision making have a high correlation with gender in hospital CEOs' characteristics.

In tandem with global and national trends, the American College of Healthcare Executives (2020) asserted gender disparities within healthcare and academic CEO positions have been slow and proportionally inequitable with the community demographic shift. Likewise, in a survey conducted by the American Hospital Association in 2014, the female gender comprised 26% of hospital CEOs, whereas others suggest that 18% of hospital CEOs are female (HealthManagement.org, 2021). Additionally, the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (2017) showed gender inequality in CEO HSO positions in proportion to female CEO positions in other industries; however, it is disproportionately low in the predominant female sector.

Leadership and Gender

Many studies on leadership and gender have been conducted in the last two decades. Some studies show that men and women exhibit different leadership styles, while others have found no differences. For example, Boamah et al. (2018) studied differences in leadership styles where women employed more participatory and inclusive leadership styles compatible with transformational leadership. Men were likely to adopt a more directive, controlling leadership style while participating in transactional leadership behaviors such as contingent compensations. Leadership styles, managerial skills, and communication styles were found to be different between genders. In a study conducted by Tench et al. (2017), differences in managerial skills, communication styles, and leadership styles showed that women preferred non-personal communication methods. In contrast, men chose more personal forms of communication.

Although leadership styles are used to select leaders, additional factors such as organizational infrastructures may influence men and women being hired and promoted differently. For example, within hospitals, barriers such as work arrangements, parental policies, access to informal networks essential to pipeline promotions, lack of sponsors, stereotypes, and communication differences reveal that there continues to be a problem to solve in terms of recruiting, progression, and day to day experiences that might lead to more flexible and inclusive workplace culture. In contrast, the digital industry found more female-founded and funded startups to be leading their organizations (Lovett, 2018). While these hurdles differ substantially from one business to the next, they can be a considerable impediment to women's rise to top management within the hospital industry.

Like their hospital CEO partners, Academic Presidents face market concerns with decreased female leaders. Larcker and Tayan (2020) and Burden et al. (2015) found shortages of female leadership in major academic institutions, large nonprofit hospitals, including the medical profession. Burden et al. (2015) found gender disparities in hospital

CEO leadership positions seeping into the physician staffing, impacting academic hospitalist's productivity and the size of hospitals. Silber et al. (2018) argued although statistics show that the number of women in leadership positions is rising, women continue to be underrepresented in the upper echelons of healthcare leadership at larger hospitals compared to smaller ones.

There are gender disparities in leadership jobs that women can hold in major hospitals versus smaller hospitals. Glass and Cook (2017) studied three competing theoretical perspectives related to gender in hospitals using CEO characteristics, board composition, and firm outcomes. They found firms with female CEOs were genderdiverse boards and were associated with more robust business practices and business outcomes. Grubbs (2020) studied gender diversity in top management teams and its relationship with compensation, top management team size, diversity, and firm innovation and productivity. Inequality persisted when adjusted for gender disparities in educational attainment, age, experience, and wage. Despite extensive knowledge of these issues in the health care sector, there continues to be a severe shortage of current action and policy suggestions. Hearld et al. (2019) studied rising CEO turnover impacting rural and urban hospitals, highlighting a call to action to overhaul CEO recruitment and retention strategies.

Gender Selection of CEO

According to Fortune 500 CEO statistics, 33 women (representing 6.6 percent of the group) were appointed to CEO posts in 2019 (Larcker et al., 2020). This number significantly increased from 4.8 percent in 2018, representing 24 female CEOs of Fortune

500 firms, demonstrating a move to close the gap. Despite a significant increase in female appointments, fewer fortune companies have a higher appointment rate than other companies (Absoch et al., 2018; Larcker et al., 2020). In healthcare, Silver et al. (2019) noted women make up only 4% of CEOs and 19 % lead larger hospitals; interestingly, only one healthcare business in the Fortune 500 has a female CEO. This absence of female leadership representation reflects the wider corporate business scene, where women make up less than 24% of C-suite executives. Interestingly, a few females lead healthcare systems, although 76 percent of the healthcare industry jobs are held by women (U.S. Census Bureau, 2019).

Faccio et al. (2016) studied CEOs' gender differences and their relationship to corporate risk-taking with females. The study demonstrated females to be less tolerant than their male counterparts and exhibit more risk aversion behaviors leading to capital allocation variances causing macroeconomic implications. Women CEOs did not take projects with net present value (NPV), leaving money on the table and overinvestment, which occurred when either avoiding or not divesting damaging NPV projects (Faccio et al., 2016). However, in a study conducted by Ferris et al. (2017), additional moderating factors such as governance, ownership structures, and banking relationships impacted the CEO's risk aversion behaviors related to social capital. Shorebah et al. (2017) asserted that females tend to make less risky business choices than their male counterparts, are less confident, and have differences in incentive structures, unemployment, and social norms. Positive relationships were found between the attribute of female directors and their work firm's performance in positive teamwork, improved efficiency and friendly cultures, tenants of transformational leadership. Communication styles, including linguistics, may support gender selection for CEO roles.

The language executives use to express communication strategies is a catalyst for improving communication. Language helps set the tone for the organizational culture and is interwoven into the daily operational fabric to promote clarity of strategic company goals (Borkowski, 2017). Clarity of language is foundational and must be aligned with the company's mission and vision statement and core values with the overarching goal to promote safety within the organization. The Agency for Health and Research and Quality (2017) entails communication must be articulated bi-directionally within the organization's communication plan to all stakeholders and reiterated at a cadenced rhythm to produce high quality, highly reliable, safe environment which forms foundational partnerships between all stakeholders. Although, gender linguistics refers to words and syntax, it is used differently by men and women. In a study by Stryker (2018), language used by executive leaders may promote member integration in organizational cultures and CEO gender preference selection. While historical traditional social views have shown women's slow progression bouncing back post-childbirth from reaching the CEO position within various industries, Keloharju et al. (2020) find CEO health and, specifically, mental health, as an important factor that makes CEOs different and affects their ascent to the top CEO position.

Literature Review Conclusion

The research findings regarding the association between the gender of the highest officer of the health service organization, the president, also known as the Chief

Executive Officer, and the size of nonprofit hospitals in rural and urban topography are slim. Literature showed that women are chosen for smaller hospitals while the male gender was determined for larger nonprofit institutions (American Association of University Women, 2020; Hearld et al., 2019; Mose, 2021). Although some literature showed women in CEO positions is rising, females were still underrepresented. Hearld et al. (2019) showed a turnover is rising differently in urban versus rural hospitals. Larcker et al. (2020) and Silver et al. (2019) showed fewer women in CEO positions and leading larger hospitals. Literature indicated CEO's gender differences within the CEO positions of hospitals may be related to high-risk decisions required (Faccio et al., 2016). While some studies showed why male genders selected for the executive positions may be due to their confidence and less risky aversion behavior than their counterpart's confidence, Shoreibah et al. (2017) showed females with higher attributes in teamwork exhibited better communication styles and leadership behaviors (Faccio et al., 2016; Shoreibah et al., 2017). There were limited articles on the relationships between the size of hospital type and CEO gender.

Definitions of Key Terms

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS): A U.S. federal agency within the Department of Health and Human Services that aids in the oversight of the U.S. health care system to enable access to quality health services at a minimized cost (CMS, n.d.).

CEO: The CEO is typically responsible for the business's overall success and for developing and executing long-term strategies to increase shareholder value (Corporate Finance Institute, 2021).

Gender: A categorical variable, was used to assess its potential relationship to the size of the health service organization in the current study (see Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). Although definitions of gender are varied and contingent on schools of study (Griffin et al., 2020; Hallinger et al., 2016), gender can be used to describe the characteristics of men and women that are socially constructed, while sex refers to those characteristics that are biologically created (WHO-Regional Office for Europe, n.d.).

Hospital: An institution primarily engaged in providing care to inpatients or outpatients, including (a) diagnostic services and treatment and care of the injured, disabled, and sick persons, or (b) rehabilitation services for injured, disabled, or sick persons (CMS, n.d.).

Nonprofit: This category indicates a voluntary, educational, or religious affiliation within federal, state, local governmental classifications (CDC, 2020).

Rural hospital: A hospital that provides inpatient care and emergency outpatient care, long-term care, and health care coordination in a geographically located county that is not classified into a core-based statistical area as designated in the inpatient prospective payment system (CDC, 2014).

Urban hospitals: Hospitals based in the Metropolitan Statistical Area that provide services in areas with dense populations ranging from 100 to 500 beds. Nearly two thirds of all hospitals located in urban areas are considered nonprofit, meaning they are not beholden to shareholders to earn profits. They receive tax benefits unavailable to forprofit hospitals (American Hospital Directory, 2021).

Assumptions

Assumptions are statements that often provide the structural foundation of theories even though they cannot be proven to be true (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). There were several assumptions associated with the current study. First, because the data were acquired through a secondary source, there was an assumption that the information was reliable and accurate. Second, there was an assumption that the data used in this study included a current list of nonprofit urban and rural Texas hospitals, and the list of the CEOs' gender was the most current and accurate information. The third assumption was the chosen quantitative research methods would provide a precise analysis of the variables.

Scope and Limitations

The scope and limitations of this study consisted of a review of data from only Texas hospitals and did not include data from other states. The study consisted of only nonprofit hospitals that used data from Texas hospitals and no other hospitals or other conditions. This study included only binary gender (male or female) of the CEO leading the Texas nonprofit hospitals. The study did not include other CEO characteristics and did not include transgender CEOs of hospitals.

Significance

The results of this study may add to the larger body of knowledge of hospital composition and CEO gender information within nonprofit health service organizations. The female gender may be underrepresented in the CEO positions within the hospital industry, specifically in nonprofit community health service organizations with larger bed
capacity and locations. The phenomenon of CEO gender differences between community (academic) hospitals, specialty hospitals, and large academic hospitals may indicate a more significant systematic issue requiring an intensive, thorough review of the HSOs' pipeline process and succession planning (Soklaridis et al., 2017). Women may be paid less than their male counterparts, which could cause women to predominate in smaller bed size hospitals rather than larger ones (Silver et al., 2018). There is a possibility that men and women are hired and promoted differently due to factors such as organizational infrastructural designs. Therefore, the current study may be essential to assess results to promote social change (see Walker-Green, 2019).

Summary and Conclusion

Population demographics are changing exponentially in the United States, creating significant challenges for the highest administrator, the CEO, of the health service organization tasked to care for the increasing uninsured and chronically ill assigned populations. I examined the possible relationship between hospital bed size and location and its influences on culture, policies, and workflow contributing to hiring the president and CEO of hospitals regarding gender. Although there is a movement to expand diversity within boards and top executive positions in hospital service organizations, this research was needed to assess the possibility of gender differences at the highest executive seat (see Gomez & Bernet, 2019; Soklaridis et al., 2017). Although this study was focused on the largest southern state of the United States, the results could represent a national systemic concern. This study may support positive social change by promoting leadership awareness of the equity variability in hospital executive leadership circles.

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

A comprehensive evaluation of current literature related to hospitals and CEO gender statistics in nonprofit hospitals was recognized. Although researchers had explored the CEO's role and responsibility, challenges, leadership styles, and selection process, studies had not addressed gender issues related to CEOs. The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine whether there was a relationship between CEO gender and the size of nonprofit hospitals and rural/urban locations of Texas hospitals. Section 2 includes the research design, rationale, and methodology used to evaluate and analyze the data. I applied statistical analysis from one data source, an industrial business marketing data source, Datacaptive. The data were categorized according to multiple groupings to ensure the study's internal and external validity.

The design choice was quantitative, correlative, descriptive to assess the relationship between the independent and dependent variables. The independent, continuous (interval/ratio) variables of hospital bed size and urban/rural locations and the conditional, categorical variable of CEO gender were used to run a statistical regression analysis. Regression analysis addresses the relationships between variables to determine correlation and effect concerning statistical significance (Babbie, 2017; Laerd Statistics, 2018).

Methodology

I examined the target population in Texas nonprofit rural hospitals. Texas is a unique state with over 268,000 square miles of land with diverse topography and climate (Texas Almanac, 2017). Texas includes four distinctive regions: North Central Plains covering most of Texas, Great plains, Range mountains in the extreme West, and Gulf coastal plains in the South near the Gulf of Mexico. Since 2020, the total population of Texas has included over 29 million people, growing over 4 million in the past decade, with over 3,075,260 people living in rural Texas (USDA Economic Research Service, 2022). Rural Texas covers 15% of Texas's overall population with shifting demographics (Cowan, 2016).

Population and Sampling

Inclusions

The total data population sample for this study was approximately 600 CEOs from the Datacaptive data set, and this was used after exclusions. The secondary data set consisted of a unit of analysis of over 600 de-identified CEO statistics. The independent variables were hospital bed sizes in nonprofit hospitals located in urban and rural Texas, categorized according to various dimensions. For hospital size, the sample population included the following: Group A hospital bed size was 50 to 99, Group B was 100 to 250; Group C was 251 to 500, and Group D was 501 and higher. CEO gender was operationalized as male (1) and female (0).

Exclusions

Exclusion criteria included CEOs from for-profit entities and city and state hospitals (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). Descriptive statistics of date of birth, address, zip codes, social security information, name, or other personal information were excluded. More details about exclusions are provided in Section 3.

Instrumentation and Operationalization

The analysis for this study included descriptive statistics, a linear regression analysis, and a Pearson correlation. Linear regression analysis addresses the relationships between variables to ascertain correlation and whether there is a statistically significant difference between the variables. Regression modeling, a predictive analytic, allows forecasting one variable to another (Wagner, 2017). Linear regression was conducted with interval and labeled scale variables. Descriptive statistics of hospital size and CEO gender included the output of each mean, standard deviation, and sample size. Pearson correlation, sig (one-tailed), with sample size output, was displayed. Albright and Winston (2017) indicated correlations are calculated between numerical or categorical values to assess to what degree each variable was related to the other variables. Pearson correlation addresses a relationship between two variables and gives rates between -1 and 1, where 1 is a positive, -1 is negative, and 0 is no correlational relationship (J. Liu et al., 2016). The dependent variable of CEO gender was categorized by binary values that preserved the order of categories and represented groups (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). To determine whether the sample size was sufficient, the G*power was used. Using the free G power analysis tool, G*Power 3.1.9.7, I determined the alpha error of probability of 0.05 was considered statistically significant (see Faul et al., 2007).

Power Analysis

Using G*Power 3.1.9.7, I calculated the necessary sample size required to answer the research questions with the independent and dependent variables. The a priori power analysis calculation was used to determine adequate sample size. The priori power of F tests (linear multiple regression, fixed model, R2 deviation from zero) revealed an α error

probability = 0.05 with 99% actual power (see Figure 2), indicating there was sufficient

sample size for this study.

Figure 2

F Tests Linear Multiple Regression: Fixed Model, R2 Deviation From Zero Analysis: A Priori: Compute Required Sample Size

F tests - Lin	ear multiple regression: Fixed mod	lel,	R ² deviation from zero					
Analysis:	A priori: Compute required sample size							
Input:	Effect size f ²	=	0.15					
	α err prob	=	0.05					
	Power (1–β err prob)	=	0.9999999					
	Number of predictors	=	2					
Output:	Noncentrality parameter λ	=	57.3000000					
	Critical F	=	3.0195367					
	Numerator df	=	2					

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: Is there a statistically significant relationship between the bed size of

nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO?

 H_01 : There is no statistically significant relationship between the bed size of

nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO.

 H_{a} 1: There is a statistically significant relationship between the bed size of

nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO.

RQ2: Is there a statistically significant relationship between urban/rural nonprofit

hospitals and the gender of the CEO?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between urban/rural hospitals

and gender of the CEO.

 H_a 2: There is a statistically significant relationship between urban/rural hospitals and the gender of the CEO.

Detailed Analysis Plan

I used a quantitative correlational design. The independent and dependent variables were hospital bed size and urban/rural nonprofit hospitals, and the dependent variable was CEO gender. Multiple studies suggested female CEOs are underrepresented in hospitals, and I examined whether there was an association related to hospital bed size and rural/urban hospitals (see Burden et al., 2015; Larcker & Tayan, 2020; Silber, 2018). Findings were interpreted using the odds ratio and the *p* value of < 0.5 to ensure a statistically sound and appropriate study.

Statistics Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) and a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet were used for the data analysis. The data were entered into SPSS Version 25 (see Wagner, 2017) software package. Bed size data were categorized by large, medium, and small. The data were categorized to conduct the analysis, and rural and urban hospitals were given a description of R for Rural and U for Urban. CEO gender characteristics were categorized by a 1 for men and a 0 for women.

Table 1

Variable type	Variable name	Research question
Independent	Bed size	RQ1
Independent	Urban/rural nonprofit	RQ2
	Hospitals	
Dependent	Gender	RQ1 and RQ2

Description and Operationalization of the Variables

Threats to Validity

External Validity

The Datacaptive data set obtained for this study may not be generalizable to the total U.S. population because the list contained no for-profit hospitals. Ellison (2021) found that 25% of community U.S. hospitals were for-profit, 57% were nonprofit, and 19% were owned by the state, county, or city. Texas is the second-largest U.S. state, with 52% for-profit community hospitals (Ellison, 2021).

Internal Validity

Errors in the secondary data may stem from human input error; however, the internal validity of the data concerned a population that can be sorted with objective information. There may have been discrepancies between hospital size, rural/urban locations, and gender categorized as male and female. There was no manipulation of the data concerning these categories, and therefore the internal validity was appropriate.

Ethical Procedures

Appropriate requests to use the secondary data set were granted by the Datacaptive company. The data set was downloaded and password protected with deidentified information. Once the data were obtained, they were uploaded from Microsoft Excel to SPSS Version 25. The Walden University Institutional Review Board (03-31-22-0724725) committee performed an ethics review and evaluated and approved the secondary data source.

Summary

Section 2 details the procedural steps used for this quantitative correlational study. A quantitative analysis was used to assess the possible correlations. SPSS was used to input the data, which was obtained from Datacaptive. A description of the statistical analysis for the variables concerning the relationship between CEO gender and the size of nonprofit hospitals and rural/urban locations of Texas hospitals was performed, and the types of analysis were provided. The internal validity of this study was vital because the variables were objective and could not be manipulated. This study may provide health care administrators with information that improves diversity in leadership. Section 3 provides the statistical findings of the data analysis. Section 3: Presentation of the Results and Findings

The main objective of this quantitative correlational study was to examine whether there was a relationship between CEO gender and the size of nonprofit hospitals and rural/urban locations in Texas. Secondary data for the variables were obtained from Datacaptive, an industry and business marketing data source (see Datacaptive, 2020). The dependent dichotomous variable for this study was CEO binary gender (male and female). The two independent ordinal variables were the size of the hospitals categorized into five different sizes, and nonprofit hospitals categorized as urban and rural locations in Texas.

The competing values framework was the theoretical framework that grounded this study. This framework focuses on the perspective of the leader's role, management styles, and organizational culture (Azad et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2021). Hospital CEOs who influence the culture may display implicit bias to ensure leadership consists of likeminded members. Today's population demographics have changed; however, studies have shown that hospital board leaders predominantly select men to run hospitals (Alghamdi et al., 2017). The current study may provide increased awareness of gender disparity found among hospital CEOs, which may elicit the board of directors' reevaluation for internal succession planning, review of the hospital board's CEO hiring process, and a better understanding of possible factors associated with the hospital's bed size, location, and CEO gender. The following research questions and hypotheses were the focus of this study: RQ1: Is there a statistically significant relationship between the bed size of nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO?

 H_0 1: There is no statistically significant relationship between the bed size of nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO.

 H_a 1: There is a statistically significant relationship between the bed size of nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO.

RQ2: Is there a statistically significant relationship between urban/rural nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO?

 H_02 : There is no statistically significant relationship between urban/rural hospitals and gender of the CEO.

 H_a2 : There is a statistically significant relationship between urban/rural hospitals and the gender of the CEO.

Section 3 includes the statistical analysis of the Datacaptive data set using binary logistic regression, Mann U, and Kruskal-Wallis methods. Binary regression analysis and correlation techniques are used to assess relationships between an outcome variable or dependent variable and one or more predictor independent variables (Frankfort-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). Due to the variability in the data being nonparametric, the Mann U and the Kruskal-Wallis analysis were added to the analysis. The Mann-U test compares whether the distribution of the dependent variable is the same for two independent variable groups. The Kruskal-Wallis analysis is used for nonparametric data and to compare two or more groups of independent variableson a dependent variable measured at an ordinal level (Frank-Nachmias & Leon-Guerrero, 2018). Section 3

contains data collection of the total number of bed sizes of nonprofit hospitals in Texas, anomalies observed in the data set, gender characteristics, associated descriptive statistics, and the geographic landscape of the hospital locations. This chapter also addresses the analysis of the sample aggregate, followed by a summary of the results and interpretations.

Data Collection of Secondary Data

The data collected for this study from Datacaptive contained over 600 entries of nonprofit hospitals in 2019 from urban and rural geographical sites located throughout 254 counties of Texas. The data consisted of names and sizes of hospitals, location of the hospitals, employee size, and gender of CEOs.

Data Filter Exclusions

After a thorough review of the data, discrepancies were found, including missing values and inclusion of other nonprofit health care facilities such as dentist offices, home health clinics, and medical practice groups. A total of 120 data elements were excluded, leaving a new sample size of 460.

Descriptive Characteristics of Sample and Population

The independent variables included nonprofit hospitals measuring from small to large sizes, and the location of the hospitals whether urban or rural. Hospitals ranged from three beds to over 900 beds and were divided into five separate groups. Categories were created and given a value of 1 (1–49 beds), 2 (50–99), 3 (100–250), 4 (251–500), or 5 (500 and >). The geographic site of urban hospital settings was given a numerical value

of 1, and rural hospitals were given a numerical value of 2. Gender of the CEO values was male = 1 and female = 2.

The dependent variable gender showed a mean of 1.12 and a standard deviation of .32 for N = 460. For the independent variable location, a nominal variable, the mean was 1.3 and the standard deviation was .459. Gender showed more men at 88.5% (n =407) than women 11.5% (n = 53). In bed size groups, 1 to 49 beds accounted for 39.6% (n = 182), 40 to 99 beds were 16.7% (n = 77), 100 to 250 beds were 20.2% (n = 93), 251 to 500 beds were 15.2% (n = 70), and 500 and greater beds were 8.3% (n = 38). Hospitals found within urban locations accounted for 70% (n = 322), while rural hospitals represented 30% (n = 138). Demographics and descriptive statistics are provided in Table 2.

Categorical variable			Gender			
	Ν	Valid %	Male	Valid %	Female	Valid %
Total sample	460					
Bed size	460		407	88.5	53	11.5
Bed size groups						
up to 49	182	39.6	163	89.6	19	10.4
50-99	77	16.7	67	87	10	13
100-250	93	20.2	83	89.2	10	10.8
251-500	70	15.2	60	85.7	10	14.3
500 and greater	38	8.3	34	89.5	4	10.5
Location						
Urban	322	70	280	87	42	13
Rural	138	30	127	92	11	8
		Std				
Interval variables	Mean	Deviation				
Gender	1.12	0.32				
Location	1.3	0.459				
Bed size groups	2.36	1.351				

Demographics and Descriptive Statistics of Final Sample

Figure 3 depicts the independent variable related to bed size, an ordinal variable,

with a mean of 2.36, a standard deviation of 1.351, and N = 460.

Figure 3





Figure 4 is a histogram of urban and rural locations with a mean of 1.3, a standard deviation of .459, and N = 460.

Figure 4

Location: Urban and Rural



Descriptions of the variables are provided in Table 3. The table displays information about the relationships between the dependent variable of gender, the independent variable of bed size for hospitals in Texas, and the independent variable of urban and rural hospitals located in Texas. These results revealed a way to explore gender diversity for hospital CEOs for nonprofit hospitals in Texas.

Table 3

Description of the V	Variables
----------------------	-----------

	Level of		
Variable	measurement	Variable type	Description
Gender	Nominal	Dependent	The gender of the CEO of Nonprofit hospitals in Texas
Condor		Dependent	
Bed size	Ordinal	Independent	Bed size of the Hospitals in Texas
Urban and rural hospitals	Ordinal	Independent	Location of hospitals in Texas

Study Results

did not work with parametric distributions, the assumption of a nonparametric test was met using the Mann-Whitney U to examine the association between bed size and CEO gender. The assumption of a nonparametric test was met using Kruskal-Wallis to determine the association between urban and rural locations to CEO gender. According to Schober and Vetter (2020), the Mann-Whitney U analysis compares two groups of cases on one variable, and the Kruskal-Wallis test can be used when parametric tests do not meet the assumptions.

Results of Statistical Analysis for Research Question 1

Research Question 1 was the following: Is there a statistically significant relationship between the size of nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO? To examine the association between nonprofit hospital bed size and CEO gender, I used SPSS with a 99% CI. The sample size of the independent variable (bed size) was 460. Table 4 depicts the descriptive statistics of men and women, with men at 407 (88.5%) and women at 53 (11.5%).

Table 4

Overall Bed Size and Gender Mean and Sum of Ranks

Variable	Gender	N	Mean rank	Sum of ranks
Bed size	Male	407	229.87	93558.5
	Female	53	235.31	12471.5
	Total	460		

When total bed size was compared to the grouping variable gender, the Mann-Whitney U test (U) = 10530.500, and the Sig (two-tailed) or p value of .779 was more significant than the conventional threshold of .05, indicating that there was no association between bed size of hospitals and CEO gender (see Table 5).

Mann-Whitney U, Wilcoxon W, Z, Asym. Sig (two-tailed)-Bed Size

Statistical analysis	Bed size
Mann-Whitney U	10530.500
Wilcoxon W	93558.500
Ζ	-0.280
Asymp. Sig. (two-tailed)	0.779

a. Grouping variable gender

Table 6 shows results of the Mann-Whitney (*U*) test for categorized bed size 1 (0– 49) = 1548.500, bed size 2 (50–99) = 335.000, bed size 3 (100–250) = 415,000, bed size 4 (251–500) = 300.00, and bed size 5 (500 and greater) = 68.00. The *p* value of each test resulted in 1.000, which was more than the conventional threshold of .05, indicating no associations with each category size of the hospital and female or male CEO gender.

Mann-Whitney U Results for Gender and Bed Categories Size 1–5

Mann-Whitney Test

			Gend	er	Mean Rank		U	W	р
Variable	п	%							
Bed Size			Male	Female	Male	Female			
1 (0-49)	182	39.6	163		91.5		1548.500	1738.500	1.000
				19		91.5			
2 (50-99)	77	16.7	67		39.00		335.000	390.000	1.000
				10		39.00			
3 (100-250)	93	20.2	83		47.00		415.000	470.000	1.000
				10		47.00			
4 (251-500)	70	15.2	60		35.00		300.000	355.000	1.000
				10		35.00			
5 (500 and greater)	38	8.3	34		19.50	20.825		78.000	1.000
				4		19.50			
Total	460	100	407	53	229.87	235.31			

The independent variable (bed size) was not statistically significantly associated with CEO gender (the dependent variable). Therefore, the results did not meet the determination that there was a significant difference (p < 0.05) in the association between hospital bed size and CEO gender. An independent samples *t* test was used to determine whether there was a statistically significant difference between the means of two different groups (see Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The Levine test showed F = 141, Sig. = 707. For equal variances not assumed, results showed t = .147, df = 71.881, and one-sided and two-sided *p* significance greater than the conventional *p* value of .05 (.442 and .884). The *t* test for equality of means showed a 4.037 mean difference with a standard of error of 27.57 (see Table 7).

Levene's									95%	
Test			t-test		Sig				CI	
					One-	Two-	Mean	Std. Error		
Variable					Sided	Side	Differenc	Differenc		
Bed Size	F	Sig	t	df	р	d p	e	e	Lower	Upper
Equal										
Variances										
assumed	0.141	0.707	0.130	458	0.448	0.897	4.037	31.081	-57.042	65.116
Equal										
Variances										
not										
assumed			0.147	71.881			4.037	27.557	-50.899	58.974

Independent Samples Test for Bed Size-Leven's Test for Equality of Variances

A binary logistic regression model was then created to predict gender with dependent variable encoding (0=male, 1=female). Categorical variable codlings showed the frequency of each bed size group. Iteration step 0 from 1-5 showed -2 log likelihood 327.747. Estimation terminated at iteration number 5 because parameter estimates changed by less than .001. A review of the data and methodology was sufficient to confirm the dependent variable was not bivariate, and the bed size group was independent. The overall prediction of the gender showed no relationship to the bed size results (Cox & Snell .002 and Nagelkerke $R^2 = .004$). The results did not meet (p = .666) the determination that there is a significant difference (p < 0.05) in the association between bed size and gender. Therefore, we reject the alternative hypothesis and retain the null hypothesis. Table 8 describes the logistic regression results of bed size group 1-5 categories and their relationship with gender.

	2 Log likelihood	Cox & Snell R	Nagelkerke R
Variable	-2 Log likelihood	square	square
Bed Size Category			
1	121.807	0.000	0.000
2	59.466	0.000	0.000
3	63.484	0.000	0.000
4	57.416	0.000	0.000
5	25.574	0.002	0.004
Overall	327.747	0.002	0.004

Binary Logistic Regression Bed Size Categories and Gender

Summary Results of Research Question 1

Research Question 1 attempted to determine if there was an association between the bed size of nonprofit hospitals in Texas and CEO gender. Logistic regression and Mann U test were utilized with a 99% confidence level resulting in the independent variable of bed size was not statistically significant in association with the CEO being male or female. In assessing the relationship between gender and bed size group (BSG), the results indicate that there is a consistently higher percentage of males (85-89%) than females (10-14%). These results indicate two findings. First, more hospitals are smaller in size with beds ranging from 1 to 49, with the next size at 100-250 beds. The additional bed sizes of 50-99, 251-500, and 500 and above had an average of 70 beds. Second, there is a wide disparity between male CEOs (averaging 87%) and their female counterparts (average 13%). Logistic regression and Mann U analyses concluded a p value high above the conventional threshold of a significant p < .05. The results, therefore, indicate the alternative hypothesis was rejected and we retain the null hypothesis. From the analysis, I concluded there was no association between the size of hospitals, either small or large, and the gender of the CEO, as there was no statistically significant relationship or

association between the independent variable of bed size and the dependent variable CEO gender.

Statistical Analysis for Research Question 2

Is there a statistically significant relationship between urban/rural nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the chief executive officer? A second statistical binary logistic regression was conducted to predict gender, dependent variable encoding (0=male, 1=female). Categorical variable coding showed location urban (322) and rural (138) frequency. The variables in the equation resulted in *B. -549, df 1, sig .122*. Table 9 binary logistic regression results show iteration history resulting in -2 Log-likelihood of *326.110*, Cox & Snell R square .006, and Nagelkerke R square = .011. When the dependent variable was tested separately with the independent variable urban and rural, test results showed (U) -2 Log-likelihood 249.365, Cox & Snell R square .000, Nagelkerke R square .000 and *Rural (R)* -2 Log-likelihood 76.745, Cox & Snell R square .000, Nagelkerke R square .000.

The results did not meet (p = .122) the determination that there is a significant difference (p < .05) in the association between the location of the hospital, urban or rural, and gender type. The independent variable (urban and rural) was not statistically significant with CEO gender (dependent variable) and was greater than the conventional threshold of (p < 0.05). Therefore, indicating there is no association between the urban and rural location of hospitals and CEO gender.

Table 9

Binary Logistic Regression of Gender and Urban/Rural Location

Variable	Male	Female	Total	2 Log likelihood	Cox & Snell R2	Nagelkerke R2
Urbon	280	12	200	240 265	000	000
Orban	280	42	322	249.303	.000	.000
Rural	127	11	138	76.745	.000	.000
Total	407	53	460	326.110		

The Kruskal Wallis test was used to examine if there was an association between the grouping of hospital location and the gender of CEO. Table 10 shows urban hospitals consisting of n = 280 males and 42 females. The Rural hospitals consisted of n = 127males and 53 females with a mean rank of 161.5. The mean rank was the same for males and females in urban (161.5) and rural at (69.5), chi-square of 2.438, and p .118.

Table 10

Kruskal Wallis Test Gender and Locations

Variable	Male	Female	Total	Mean Rank Male/Female	Chi-square p
Urban	290	12	222	1(1.5	2 4 2 0 1 1 0
Ulball	280	42	322	161.5	2.438 .118
Rural	127	11	138	69.5	
Total	407	53	460		

Table 11 shows the grouping of location and gender with *Kruskal-Wallis* =2.433, df 1, p=.119. The *p* value of .119 is more than the conventional threshold of significant *p* < .05. The results, therefore, did not meet the determination that a significant association is evident between the independent variable location of the hospital (urban, rural) and the dependent variable, the gender of the CEO.

Kruskal-Wallis Test, df, Asymp Sig for Grouping Variable of Gender and Location

	Location
Kruskal-Wallis H	2.433
df	1
Asymp. Sig.	0.119
a. Kruskal Wallis Test	
a. Grouping Variable: Gender	

Figure 5 shows a relationship map indicating color and linear strength and connection rank of male, female, and urban/rural locations.

Figure 5

Relationship Map of Gender and Location



Note. Each node shows the relationship rank of male, female, and urban/rural locations

Summary of Research Questions Results and Hypothesis

Results of Research Question 1, which attempted to establish a relationship between hospital bed size and the gender of the CEO in Texas, show that the *p*-value = .779, and therefore, the results did not meet the determination that there was a significant difference (p < 0.05) in the association between bed size of the hospital and CEO gender. Therefore, we reject the alternative and retain the null hypothesis. The results of Research Question 2, which explored the association between the location of urban or rural hospitals in Texas and the gender of the CEO, showed a *p* value .119, which is greater than the conventional threshold (p < 0.05) in the association between urban and rural hospitals and CEO gender. Therefore, we reject the alternative hypothesis and retain the null hypothesis.

Summary

Section three provided a detailed account of the analysis of the sample aggregate, data collection, binary gender characteristics, associated descriptive statistics, and geographical landscape of hospital locations with findings, and the statistical analysis used to determine the association between bed size of hospitals and gender of the CEO. The collection process, results of descriptive statistics, binary logistic regression, Mann-Whitney U statistical methods, and Kruskal-Wallis were used. This section also examined the assumption of nonparametric tests and Kruskal-Wallis to determine the association between urban and rural locations to CEO gender. Several methods were applied to find an association; however, regardless of the methods used, the results demonstrated no statistical significance. While there was no statistically significant association between the size and location of hospitals and the gender of the CEO, there was a considerable equity disparity between the number of male and female CEOs. This doctoral study helped to answer an inherent question. Next, Section 4 highlights the analysis of the results and findings of the research questions and interpretations utilizing the Competing Values Framework. Additionally, the section highlights this study's limitations, recommendations, and concluding parts of the doctoral research.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

The principal objective of this quantitative correlational study was to address the research gap in the relationship between hospital CEO gender and the size (categorized from smallest to largest) of nonprofit hospitals and location (rural and urban) in Texas. The results from the binary logistic regression, Mann-Whitney U, and Kruskal-Wallis statistical analysis indicated no significant association between the CEO gender and hospital bed sizes ranging from 1 to 5 (small to large) and the location of the hospitals. In Section 4, the interpretation of findings, study limitations, and recommendations for future research analysis are presented. A discussion of the study's relevance and implications for professional practice and social change is also provided. Additionally, I consider the findings through the lens of the competing values framework and the logical connection between the framework and the nature of size and location of the hospital and CEO gender.

Interpretation of the Findings

Research Question 1 Analysis

The study findings showed no statistically significant relationship between bed size of nonprofit Texas hospitals and CEO gender, with a *p* value of 1.000 well above the conventional threshold of a significant p < .05. The results of the data set analyses showed high prevalence of male CEOs in each of the five different bed size categories. Specifically, a higher prevalence of male CEOs was found in bed size 1 (0– 49) with a *MR* of 91.5 and in bed size 3 (100–250) with a *MR* of 47.00. The results indicated no statistically significant difference between the bed size of nonprofit Texas hospitals and the gender of CEOs; therefore, the null hypothesis was retained.

Although the results indicated no significant statistical association, a disparity in the number of male CEOs compared to female CEOs in the overall sample size was noted and was not surprising. Because few studies had addressed gender and hospital size, the current study was conducted to fill the gap by focusing on the hospital industry and gender diversity (see Mkwandawire, 2017). The results of this study align with the research of Soklaridis et al. (2017) who studied gender bias among women hospital CEOs in a male-dominated hospital executive leadership milieu. The study found a few women felt they could get a position only in community general hospitals, while males were placed in the large academic hospitals. Most of the women felt they progressed to the CEO level without being discriminated against because of their gender. Comparable to Larcker and Tayan's (2020) study, I found shortages of female leaders in major academic institutions. Silver et al. (2018) noted women make up 4% of CEOs and 19% in larger hospitals, while I found 11.5% of CEOs are women, with 10.5% at larger hospitals. This indicates a possible paradigm shift in female CEOs; however, increased representation of female CEOs at larger institutions is still lacking.

Research Question 2 Analysis

The findings indicated no significant association between urban/rural nonprofit hospitals and the gender of the CEO, with p = .122, which is higher than the conventional threshold of 0.05. Therefore, the null hypothesis was retained. The results of this study indicated more nonprofit hospitals within Texas urban territories than their rural

counterparts, U = 322 and R = 138. The percentage of male CEOs from the results of this study was higher in both locations, U = 87% and R = 92% (13% and 8% in women) and increased within *R* topography. In contrast, Lewellen (2020) found more female CEOs in densely populated urban areas. However, the results of the current study align with the research of Mose (2021), who stated that women's likelihood of being a COO, the pathway to being a CEO, showed a decrease of 54% in the Northeast region of the United States, and in the Midwest and South regions women were respectively at 18 and 13 percentage points lower in the probability of becoming a COO. A significant difference was not found between the female gender of CEOs and the location of nonprofit hospitals, with a p < 0.05; therefore, the null hypothesis was retained.

Findings to the Literature

The findings of this study reaffirm the need for hospital boards to assess current hiring practices to level the inequity of women leading hospitals. Although current results showed no statistical significance, the data showed men superseded women in all bed sizes of nonprofit Texas hospitals, regardless of location. The CDC (2020) reported a higher percentage of women than men throughout the U.S. population, yet a wide disparity continues between leadership CEO roles of women leading hospitals. Although more women are rising to top levels of companies, there is still underrepresentation at every level (McKinsey & Company, 2020). In this era of diversity, there is heightened awareness of equal opportunity and so everyone has a chance to grow and advance. Women holding the same positions as men in the workplace fosters a diverse culture, reduces gender gaps, and creates a better road to equality (McKinsey & Company, 2020). Furthermore, examining the diversity pipeline of new CEOs and hospital board hiring practices is imperative to create awareness for positive social change.

Findings to Theory

Researchers had studied the relationship between hospital leader position and financial and quality outcomes; however, few had attempted to determine the association of size of hospitals and urban/rural location with CEO gender in Texas. The current study was based on the competing values framework, which grounded this study with the perspective of organizational culture and the hospital leader's role. There had been no similar study in my review of the literature.

According to Cameron and Quinn (2011), there are two competing prioritizing dimensions (first and second) that leaders face within organizations. When the leader engages the organization from internal or external activities (first dimension), they choose to be either flexible or maintain stability (second dimension). According to Joseph and Kibera (2019), applying this competing values framework to the association between gender and the size of a hospital can encourage an innovative workplace with cultural diversity, including leadership gender, which contributes to innovation.

Applying the framework aids in an innovative culture leading to strong hiring and performance review process. Diversity targets require diverse slates for hiring and promotions to establish clear and consistent evaluation prior to beginning the process, which is the foundation for diversity and minimizes bias in decision making. Furthermore, utilizing this process aids in driving pipeline diversity leading to employee satisfaction in viewing the hiring process as fair and equitable.

Limitations of the Study

There were several limitations that may have impacted the reliability, generalizability, and validity of the study results. Because data sets were not available to the public, I could not access them despite the formal request and maintaining membership in several hospital associations. Therefore, I had to seek out a marketing company that had access to the required data. As required by Walden University, the data were not assessed prior to initiating the study concerning the data source selected from the Datacapative company. Because of this, the calculations of the data for linear regression were not as simple as originally proposed. Once approval for the study was provided by the Walden Institutional Review Board, the data were downloaded, and I discovered the data variables were not normally distributed and, therefore, required unexpected nonparametric testing.

The data set included only nonprofit hospitals and did not include all hospitals within Texas. More than 52% of Texas hospitals are private (Ellison, 2021). Additionally, I examined only the association of CEO gender and Texas nonprofit, urban/rural locations. I did not examine the relationship of CEO gender with all hospital types within the nation. Moreover, there were multiple definitions for rural counties in Texas, which created confusion and may have resulted in not capturing all rural and urban hospitals in Texas. For example, the Texas Workforce Commission categorizes any county with a population of 10,000 or less as rural; the Texas Department of Agriculture defines rural as 150,000 or less; and the Texas Medical Board accepts only counties with a population of 5,000 or less as rural based on the most recent decennial census, which leaves out many counties (Brown, 2019). Lastly, the limitations of this study included the use of binary gender. In today's era, the opportunity for nonbinary gender associations should be explored (Rushton et al., 2019).

Recommendations

The limitations of this study indicated the need for future scholars to explore various locations locally, nationally, and perhaps internationally. It is recommended that future researchers expand the scope of this study to all types and sizes of hospitals to determine differences in the association of CEO gender and hospital location and size among the states. This expansion could highlight the larger gap between binary and nonbinary gender CEOs and its association with hospital size and location.

With Texas's population growth rate of 16% in 2021, doubling the growth of the nation (7.4%), a reevaluation of urban versus rural geographies is needed (Texas Demographic Center, 2021). Additionally, it is recommended that this type of research include data established by Texas or the American Hospital Association. Lastly, a reliable process for confirming data by contacting hospitals should be considered, as the secondary data may be missing information.

Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change

In today's era of diversity and inclusion, more attention should be focused on gender equality throughout many institutions including health care. Women are still underrepresented in the CEO positions within the hospital industry, in both large and small nonprofit organizations. With mostly men identified as CEOs in Texas hospitals, this may lead to a larger systematic issue requiring an in-depth review of the HSOs' hiring process including pipeline and succession planning within Texas and the nation at large (Soklaridis et al., 2017). Organizational infrastructure may cause men and women to be promoted differently into CEO positions; therefore, the results of this study could lead to further studies on gender and various type of hospitals, in various locations, throughout the nation and internationally. Further research may lead to strategies to decrease the gap of inequality and strengthen workplace culture.

Conclusion

This study revealed no statistically significant association between CEO gender and nonprofit hospital bed size and urban/rural locations in Texas. Although a large number of male CEOs was found throughout Texas hospitals, there was no relationship between the size of hospitals (divided into five separate groups) and the CEO gender. Overall bed size and gender showed a consistently higher percentage of men than women. When assessed by bed size, logistic regression showed no association. CEO gender was tested separately with urban and rural locations, which resulted in no association between the location of the hospital and gender type.

This study did have limitations, such as only 460 data points to use from originally over 600, only nonprofit hospitals, and only Texas hospitals. Further research is recommended to examine gender and its association with all hospital types throughout the nation and the world, as doing so may provide critical information on hiring practices, the pipeline backfill process, and identify any gaps in practices among hiring boards throughout different communities. The current study may serve as a guide for inquiry into human resources career options for aspiring CEO enthusiasts, may provide a call to action for board leaders to review current CEO selection practices, may encourage boards to address pipeline backfill methods and address disparity among leaders. Addressing gender diversity and reducing the gap may help health care leaders develop institutions that reflect the changing diverse community landscape and demonstrate equality for both men and women.

References

- Abosch, A., & Rutka, J. T. (2018). Women in neurosurgery: Inequality redux. Journal of Neurosurgery, 129(2), 277–281. <u>https://thejns.org/view/journals/j-neurosurg/129/2/article-p277.xml</u>
- Ades, P., & Savage, P. (2017). Obesity in coronary heart disease: Unaddressed behavioral risk factor. *Preventative Medicine*.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5640469/

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (n.d.). *Strategy 2: Communicating to improve quality*. https://www.ahrq.gov/professionals/systems/hospital/engagingfamilies/strategy2/i

ndex.html

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2017). *Agency for healthcare research and quality: A profile.*

https://www.ahrq.gov/cpi/about/profile/index.html#:~:text=The%20Agency%20f

- Aij, K., Aernoudts, R., & Joosten, G. (2015). Manager traits and quality-of-care performance in hospitals. *Leadership in Health Services*. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26083635/</u>
- Akindele, S., Afolabi, Y., Pitan, & O., Gidado, T. (2016). The threads of organizational theory: A phenomenological analysis. *Management Science*, 6, 158-184. <u>http://article.sapub.org/10.5923.j.mm.20160605.03.html</u>
- Albright, S. C., & Winston, W. L. (2017). Business analytics: Data analysis and decision making (6th ed.). Cengage Learning.

- Alghamdi, M., Topp, R., & AlYami, M. (2017). The effect of gender on transformational leadership and job satisfaction among Saudi nurses. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(1), 119–127. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28714146/</u>
- Ali, J., & Shabir, S. (2017). Does gender make a difference in business performance? Evidence from a large enterprise survey data of India. *Gender in Management*, 32(3), 218–233. <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/1908688178</u>
- American Association of University Women. (2020). Broken ladders: Barriers to women's representation in nonprofit leadership.

https://www.aauw.org/app/uploads/2020/03/women-in-leadership.pdf

American College of Healthcare Executives. (2015). *Report: A race/ethnic comparison of career attainments in healthcare management*.

https://www.ache.org/-

/media/ache/learningcenter/research/ceowhitepaper2015.pdf

American College of Healthcare Executives. (2018). Addressing gender equity in

healthcare organizations.

https://www.ache.org/-/media/ache/learning-center/research/2019-ceo-circlewhite-paper.pdf

American College of Healthcare Executives. (2020). *Competencies assessment tools*. https://www.ache.org/-/media/ache/career-resource-center/cat-2022.pdf

American Hospital Association. (2021). Fast facts on U.S. hospitals, 2021.

https://www.aha.org/system/files/media/file/2021/01/Fast-Facts-Hospitals-

Infographic-2021-jan21.pdf
American Hospital Directory. (2021). Free hospital profile. https://www.ahd.com

- Anderson, S., Kelly, K., & Maxwell, S. (2017). Sample-size planning for more accurate statistical power: A method adjusting sample effect sizes for publication bias and uncertainty. *Psychological Science*, 28(11), 1547–1562 <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28902575/</u>
- Arnold, D., Capella, L., & Sumrall, D. (1987). Organization culture and the marketing concept: Diagnostic keys for hospitals. *Journal of Health Care Marketing*, 7(1). <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10281380/</u>
- Azad, N., Anderson, H. G., Jr., Brooks, A., Garza, O, O'Neil, C., Stutz, M., M., & Sobotka, J. L. (2017). Leadership and management are one and the same.
 American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 81(6), 102.
 https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe816102
- Augustin, F., & Stumpf, S. (2018). Talent diversity pipeline. *The Journal of Health Administration Education, 35*(3), 313–325.

file:///C:/Users/Owner/Downloads/Talent Diversity Pipeline%20(1).pdf

- Babbie, E. (2017). Basics of social research (7th ed.). Cengage Learning.
- Bass, A. E. (2019). Top management team diversity, equity, and innovation: A multilevel investigation of the health care industry. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*. <u>https://doi-org.ezp.waldeulibrary.org/10.1177/1548051819849008</u>
- Bennouri, M., Chtioui, T., Nagati, H., & Nekhili, M. (2018). Female board directorship and firm performance: What really matters? *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 88, 267–291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbankfin.2017.12.010</u>

- Benzies, K. M., Shah, V., Aziz, K., Lodha, A., & Misfedt, R. (2019). The health care system is making 'too much noise' to provide family-centered care in neonatal intensive care units: perspectives of health care providers and hospital administrators. *Intensive and Critical Care Nursing*, 50, 44-53. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29759848/
- Blavin, F. (2016). Association between the 2014 medicaid expansion and US Hospital Finances. *Journal of American Medical Association*. 316(14). 1475-1483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.14765</u>

https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2565750

- Boamah, S. A., Laschinger, H. K. S., Wong, C., & Clarke, S. (2018). Effect of transformational leadership on job satisfaction and patient safety outcomes.
 Nursing Outlook, 66(2), 180-189. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2017.10.004</u>
- Bodenheimer, T., & Sinsky. C. (2014). From triple to quadruple aim: care of the patient requires care of the provider. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 12(6), 573-576. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1713
- Boerner, H. (2017). Transforming healthcare.

https://www.diversitywoman.com/transforming-healthcare/

- Borkowski, N. (2017). Organizational behavior, theory, and design in health care (2nd ed.). Burlington, MA: Jones and Bartlett.
- Brown, T. (2019). Is Texas Rural or Urban. Texas Association of Counties.

https://www.county.org/County-Magazine-Main/Nov-Dec-2019/Is-Texas-Rural-

or-Urban

- Buettgens, M., Blumbert, L., & Pan, C. (2018). The uninsured in Texas. Urban Institution. 201812.10 Uninsured in Texas FINAL.pdf (episcopalhealth.org)
- Buolamwini, J., & Gebru, T. (2018). Gender shades: intersectional accuracy disparities in commercial gender classification. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 81. <u>https://proceedings.mlr.press/v81/buolamwini18a.html</u>
- Burden, M., Frank, M., Keniston, A., Chadaga, S., Czernik, Z., Eschaniz, M., Griffith, J., Mintzer, D., Munoa, A., Spence, J., Statland, B., Teixeira, P., Zoucha, J, Lones, J., & Albert. R. (2015). Gender disparities in leadership and scholarly productivity of academic hospitalists. *Journal of Hospital Medicine*. 10(8), 481-485. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25755183/
- Calciolari, S., Prenestini, A., & Lega, F. (2018). An organizational culture for all seasons? How cultural type dominance and strength influence different performance goals. *Public Management Review*. 20(9).
 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/14719037.2017.1383784
- Cameron, K. S., & Quinn, R. E. (2011). Diagnosing and changing organizational culture: Based on the competing values framework (3rd ed). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Carucci, R. (2016). A 10-year study reveals what great executives know and do. *Harvard Business Review*. <u>https://hbr.org/2016/01/a-10-year-study-reveals-what-great-</u> <u>executives-know-and-do</u>
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2014). National center for health statistics. rural and urban hospitals' role in providing inpatient care, 2010.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db147.htm

- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). 10 essential public health services. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/publichealthgateway/publichealthservices/essentialhealthservices.html</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). National center for health statistics. Retrieved December 16, 2021,

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/pressroom/sosmap/diabetes mortality/diabetes.htm.

- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021). National center for health statistics. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/heart-disease.htm
- Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (n.d.). Define CMS. About CMS.

https://www.cms.gov/About-CMS/About-CMS

Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (2020). 2020 Census results inform funding

for hospitals and health care.

https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2020/07/2020-census-results-inform-

funding-for-hospitals-and-health-care.html

Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (2022). Critical access hospitals.

https://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Medicare-Learning-Network-

MLN/MLNProducts/downloads/CritAccessHospfctsht.pdf

Competing Values Framework. (n.d.). Power slide. Retrieved 2/9/22

https://powerslides.com/powerpoint-business/business-strategy-

templates/competing-values-framework/

Corporate Finance Institute. (2021). CEO vs. CFO. The differences between the roles of a

CEO and a CFO.

https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/careers/designations/ceo-vs-cfo/

- Cowan, J. (2016). Census data shows a widening divide between urban and rural America. *The Dallas Morning News*. Census data shows a widening divide between urban and rural America (dallasnews.com)
- Crizzle, A., Bigelow, P., Adams, D., Gooderham, S., Myers, A., & Thiffault, P. (2017). Health and wellness of long-haul truck and bus drivers: A systematic literature review of directions for future research. *Journal of Transport & Health*, 7A. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2017.05.359</u>
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Cronin, C., & Garlington, S. (2021). Population health partnerships and social capital: Facilitating hospital-community partnerships. SSM-Population Health, 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100739</u>
- Curry, L. A., Brault, M. A., Linnander, E. L., Brewster, A. L., Cherlin, E., Flieger, S. P., Ting, H. H., & Bradley, E. H. (2018). Influencing organizational culture to improve hospital performance in care of patients with acute myocardial infarction: A mixed-methods intervention study. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, *27*(3), 201-217. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2017-006989

Datacaptive (2020). Industrial Data. <u>https://www.datacaptive.com/</u>

Dyrda, L. (2017). How many hospitals does each state have? *Becker's Hospital Review*. <u>https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/hospital-transactions-and-valuation/how-</u> many-hospitals-does-each-state-have.html?oly_enc_id=4102E7476478H9Y

- Dye, C. F. (2017). Leadership in healthcare: Essential values and skills (3rd ed.). Chicago, IL: Health Administration Press
- Ellison, A. (2021). Ten states with the most for-profit hospitals by percentage. *Becker's Hospital Review*. <u>https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/rankings-and-</u> <u>ratings/10-states-with-the-most-for-profit-hospitals-by-percentage.html</u>
- Episcopal Health Foundation. (2017). New EHG Report: Despite improvements under the affordable care act, Texas still ranks worst in the US for "access and affordability" of Care. <u>https://www.episcopalhealth.org/research-report/new-ehf-</u> <u>report-despite-improvements- under-affordable-care-act-texas-still-ranks-worst-</u> <u>us-access-and-affordability-care/</u>
- EReferencedesk. (2021). Texas physiographic regions.

https://www.ereferencedesk.com/resources/state-geography/texas.html

- Faccio, M., Marchica, M., & Mura, R. (2016). CEO gender, corporate risk-taking, and the efficiency of capital allocation. *Journal of Corporate Finance*. 39, 193-209. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0929119916300244</u>
- Farley, B., Shear, B., Lu, V., Walworth, K., Gray, K., Kirsch, M., & Clements, J. (2020). Rural, urban, and teaching hospital differences in hip fracture mortality. *Journal* of Orthopedics, 21, 453-458. 10.1016/j.jor.2020.08.039 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32982100/
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences.

Behavior Research Methods, 39, 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146

 Ferguson, D. (2016). Diversity in healthcare leadership drives better patient outcomes and community connection. *Fierce Healthcare*.
 <u>https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/healthcare/diversity-healthcare-leadership-drives-better-patient-outcomes-and-community-connection</u>

- Ferris, S. P., Javakhadze, D., & Rajkovic, T. (20107). CEO social capital, risk-taking and corporate policies. *Journal of Corporate Finance*, 47, 46-71. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0929119917303462
- Frankfort-Nahmias, C., & Leon-Guerrero, A. (2018). Social statistics for a diverse society (8th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA; Sage Publications
- Franz, B., Cronin, C. E. & Singh, S. (2021). Are nonprofit hospitals addressing the most critical community health needs that they identify in their community health needs assessments? *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice, 27* (1), 80-87. doi: 10.1097/PHH.000000000001034 https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31415264/
- Furrow, B. R., Greaney, T., L., Johnson, S. H., Jost, T. S, Schwartz, R. L., Clark, B. R., Brown, E., Gatter, R., King, J., & Pendo., E. (2018). Health law: Cases, materials, and problems (8th ed.). St. Paul, MN: West Academic Publishing

 Galstian, C., Hearld, L., Connor, S. J., & Borkowski, N. (2018). The relationship of hospital CEO characteristics to patient experience scores. *Journal of healthcare management/American College of Healthcare Executives*, 63(1), 50-61.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/JHM-D-16-00020 Gaston, S. M. & Walker, B. W. (2018). Critical access hospitals: Meeting underserved community needs. *Nursing2020*, 48(5).

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29697564/

Glass, C. and Cook, A. (2017). Do women leaders promote positive change? Analyzing the effect of gender on business practices and diversity initiatives. *Human Resource Management*, 57(4), 823-837. doi:10.1002/hrm.21838
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/hrm.21838

Goleman, D. (1998). Working with emotional intelligence. New York: Bantam Books.

Gomez, L. E., & Bernet, P. (2019). Diversity improves performance and outcomes. Journal of the National Medical Association, 111(4), 383-392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnma.2019.01.006

Goryachev, A. (2018). Why innovation is all about communication. *Forbes*. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbescommunicationscouncil/2018/02/05/three-</u>reasons-why-innovation-is-all-about-communication/

Griffin, L., Clyde, K., Byng, R., & Bewley, S. (2021). Sex, gender and gender identity: A re-evaluation of the evidence. *BJPsych Bulletin*, 45(5), 291-299.

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32690121/

Grubbs, V. (2020). Diversity, equity, and inclusion that matter. *N. Engl J Med.* 2020. PMID: 32649073. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32649073</u>

Hajibandeh, S., & Hajibandeh, S. (2017). Who should lead a trauma team: Surgeon or nonsurgeon? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal Injury and Violence Research*, 9(2), 107-116. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5556626/

- Hao, M., & Yazdanifard, R. (2015). How effective leadership can facilitate change in organizations through improvement and innovation. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research: Administration and Management.* 15(9). https://journalofbusiness.org/index.php/GJMBR/article/view/1737
- Hall, M., & Owings, M. (2014). Rural and urban hospitals' role in providing inpatient care, 2010. *NCHS Data Brief No. 147*.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db147.htm

- Hallinger, P., Dongyu, L., & Wang, W.-C. (2016). Gender differences in instructional leadership: A meta-analytic review of studies using the principal instructional management rating scale. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 52(4), 567–601. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0013161X16638430</u>
- Hearld, L. R., Opoku-Agyeman, W., Kim, D. H., & Landry, A. Y. (2019). CEO turnover among U.S. acute care hospitals, 2006-2015: Variations by type of geographic area. *Journal of Healthcare Management/American College of Healthcare Executives*, 64(1), 28-42. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30608482/</u>
- HealthManagement.org. (2021). Healthcare gender gap: 18% of hospital CEOs are Women. *Health Management*.

https://healthmanagement.org/c/hospital/news/healthcare-gender-gap-18-ofhospital-ceos-are-women

Heath, M., Porter, T., & Silvera, G. (2020). Hospital characteristics associated with HIPPA breaches. *International Journal of Healthcare Management*. https://doi.org/10.1080/20479700.2020.1870349

- Henkel, G. (2016). Does U.S. healthcare need more diverse leadership? *The Hospitalist*. <u>https://www.the-hospitalist.org/hospitalist/article/121639/does-us-healthcare-</u> need-more-diverse-leadership
- Holahan, J., Buettgens, M., Banthin, J., & Simpson, M. (2021). Filling the gap in states that have not expanded Medicaid eligibility. *The Commonwealth Fund*. <u>https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/issue-briefs/2021/jun/filling-</u> gap-states-not-expanded-medicaid
- Institute of Healthcare Improvements. Triple aim for populations.

https://www.ihi.org/Topics/TripleAim/Pages/default.aspx

- Jabir, A., & Shabir, S. (2017). Does gender make a difference in business performance? Evidence from a large enterprise survey data of India. *Gender in Management, 32* (3), 218-233. <u>https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/GM-09-</u> <u>2016-0159/full/html</u>
- Jacobs, B., Hatzigeorgiu, M., & McCamant, K. (2020). Cultivating a culture: Implementing methods to embrace diversity and inclusion. *NurseLeader*, 18,5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2020.08.003</u>
- Janssen, L. (2004). Leadership characteristics of hospital ceos: Factors that influence leadership style. <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/46924275.pdf</u>
- Jayanthi, A. (2016). The new look of diversity in healthcare: Where we are and where we're headed. *Becker's Hospital Review*.

https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/hospital-management-administration/the-

new-look-of-diversity-in-healthcare-where-we-are-and-where-we-re-headed.html

Joseph, O., & Kibera, F. (2019). Organizational culture and performance evidence from microfinance institutions in Kenya.

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2158244019835934

- Kaiser, F., Schmid, A., & Schlüchtermann, J. (2020). Physician-leaders and hospital performance revisited. *Social Science & Medicine*, *249*, 112831. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.112831</u>
- Kaiser Family Foundation State Health Facts (2020). Texas: demographics and the economy. <u>Population Distribution by Race/Ethnicity (CPS) | KFF</u>
- Kahn, A. (2019). Practitioner Application: Impact of ACA Medicaid Expansion on Hospitals' Financial Status. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 64(2). 102-103. https://journals.lww.com/jhmonline/FullText/2019/04000/PRACTITIONER_APP
 LICATION_Impact_of_ACA_Medicaid.8.aspx
- Kash, B. A., Spaulding, A., Gamm, L., & Johnson, C. E. (2013). Health care administrators' perspectives on the role of absorptive capacity for strategic change initiatives: A qualitative study. *Health Care Management Review*, 38(4), 339-448. https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0b013e318276faf8
- Kash, B., Spaulding, A. D., Gamm, L., & Johnson, C. E. (2014). Healthcare strategic management and the resource-based view. *Journal of Strategy and Management*. 7(3), 251-264.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/265969307_Healthcare_strategic_mana gement_and_the_resource_based_view_

- Kaplan, G. (2018). Building a culture of transparency in health care (hbr.org) <u>https://hbr.org/2018/11/building-a-culture-of-transparency-in-health-care</u>
- Keloharju, M., Knupfer, S., & Tag, J. (2020). CEO health and corporate governance. *IFN* Paper No. 1326, Available at SSRN: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3560071</u>
- Kohn, L. T., Corrigan, J. M., & Donaldson, M. S. (Eds). (2000). To err is human:Building a safer health system. Washington, D. C.: National Academy Press.
- Koser, C., Loomer, L., Ferdows, N., Trivedi, A., Panagiotou, O., & Rahman, M. (2020). Assessment of rural-urban differences in postacute care utilization and outcomes among older US adults. *Journal American Medical Association, Network Open, 3*(1). <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31913495/</u>
- Laerd Statistics. (2018). Multiple regression analysis using spss statistics. <u>https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/multiple-regression-using-spss-</u> <u>statistics.php</u>
- Larcker, D. F., & Tayan, B. (2020). Diversity in the c-suite: The dismal state of diversity among fortune 100 senior executives. *Rock center for corporate governance at Stanford University closer look series: Topics, issues and controversies in corporate governance No. CGRP-82.*

https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3587498

Law Insider (2021). Rural hospital (RH definition).

https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/rural-hospital-rh

Lee, J., McFadden, K., Lee, M., & Gowen, C. (2021). U.S. hospital culture profiles for better performance in patient safety, patient satisfaction, six sigma, and lean implementation. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108047

- Lewellen, K. (2020). Women in charge: evidence from hospitals. <u>https://faculty.tuck.dartmouth.edu/images/uploads/faculty/katharina-lewellen/WomenCEOs_20191205.pdf</u>
- Liu, X., Zhang, Q., Xu, Y., Wu, X., & Wang, X. (2020). Trend analysis of medical expenses in Shenzhen after China's new healthcare reforms. *The International Journal of Health Planning and Management*, *35*(3), 760-772. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/hpm.2951
- Liu, J., Tang, W., Chen, G., Lu, Y., Feng, C., & Tu, X. M. (2016). Correlation and agreement: overview and clarification of competing concepts and measures. Shanghai Archives of Psychiatry.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5004097/

Livingston, S. (2018). Racism is still a problem in healthcare's c-suite: Efforts aimed at boosting diversity in healthcare leadership fail to make progress. *Journal of Best Practices in Health Professions Diversity*, 11(1), 60-65.

https://www.jstor.org/stable/26554292

- Longest, B. B., Jr. & Darr, K. J. (2014). Managing health services organizations and systems (6th.). Baltimore, MD: Health Professions Press.
- Lovett, L. (2018). Women ceos still rare in digital health startups, Rock Health says. *HealthcareITNews*. <u>https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/women-ceos-still-</u> <u>rare-digital-health-startups-rock-health-says</u>

Medicare.gov. (n.d.). Hospital compare.

https://www.medicare.gov/hospitalcompare/search.html

- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation (4th ed). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- McLaughlin, D., & Olson, J. (2017). Healthcare operations management. (3rd ed). Health Administration Press, Chicago, Illinois.
- McDonagh, K., Borowski, P., Hoss, M., Paris, N., & Schulte, M., (2014). The leadership gap: Ensuring effective healthcare leadership requires inclusion of women at the top. *OJL*, 03(02), 20-29. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ojl.2014.32003</u>
- McKinsey & Company. (2016). The CEO guide to boards. Executive briefing https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/leadership/the-ceo-guide-to-boards
- McKinsey & Company. (2020). Women in healthcare: moving from the frontlines to the top rung. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/healthcare-systems-and-services/our-insights/women-in-healthcare-moving-from-the-front-lines-to-the-top-rung</u>
- Mehta, S. (2015). Patient satisfaction reporting and its implications for patient care. *American Medical Association Journal of Ethics*. 17(7). 616-621. doi: 10.1001/journalofethics.2014.17.7.ecas3-1507. <u>https://journalofethics.ama-assn.org/article/patient-satisfaction-reporting-and-its-implications-patient-care/2015-07</u>
- Middleton, L., Hall, H., & Raeside, R. (2018). Applications and applicability of social cognitive theory in information science research.

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0961000618769985

Mills, D., Middleton, R., Sachar, H., & Reynolds, R. (2019). Driving diversity and inclusion-the role for chairs and ceos.

https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2019/04/03/driving-diversity-and-inclusion-therole-for-chairs-and-ceos/

- Mishra, S. (2018). Women in the c-suite: The next frontier in gender diversity. *Harvard Law.* <u>Women in the C-Suite: The Next Frontier in Gender Diversity (harvard.edu)</u>
- Mkwandawire, Y. (2017). Hospital outcomes based on physician versus non-physician leadership.

https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=4461&context=diss ertations

- Modern Hire. (2018). What is the state of diversity recruitment in healthcare? https://modernhire.com/whats-the-state-of-diversity-recruitment-in-healthcare/
- Morse, M., & Loscalzo, J. (2020). Creating real change at academic medical centers-How social movements can be timely catalysts. *New England Journal Medicine*, *16*, 383 (3): 199-201. doi:10.1056/NEJMp20002502

https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMp2002502

- Mose, J. (2021). Representation of women in top executive positions in general medicalsurgical hospitals in the United States. *Women's Health Reports*, 2(1), 124-132. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8139257/</u>
- Murphy, B., Bean, M., & Dydra, L. (2017). 62 critical access hospitals to know. Becker's Hospital Review. <u>https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/lists/62-critical-access-</u>

hospitals-to-know-2017.html

- Nahavandi, A. (2015). The art and science of Leadership (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson
- Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (2014). Healthy people 2020. https://www.healthypeople.gov/
- Onday, O. (2016). Organization culture theory: From organizational culture of schein to appreciative inquiry of Cooperrider & Whitney.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/309037093_Organization_Culture_Theo ry_From_Organizational_Culture_of_Schein_to_Appreciative_Inquiry_of_Coope rrider_Whitney

O'Neill, D., De Vries, J., & Comiskey, C. (2021). Leadership and community healthcare reform: a study using the competing values framework.

https://www.emerald.com/insight/1751-1879.htm

Pitchforth, E., Nolte, E., Corbett, J., Miani, C., Winpenny, E., van Teijllingen, E., Elmore, N., King, S., Ball, S., Miler, J., & Ling, T. (2017). Community hospitals and their services in the NHS: identifying transferable learning from international developments-scoping review, systematic review, country reports and case studies. *NIHR Journals Library. PubMed*.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK436702/

Quinn, J. F., & Perrili, S. (2016). First and foremost, physicians: the clinical versus leadership identities of physician leaders. *Journal of Health Organization and Management*, 30(4). 711-728. <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/2131873946</u>

- Render, H. (2017). CMS Clarifies definition of hospital: What it means to be "Primarily Engaged." *Health Law Review*. <u>https://www.hallrender.com/2017/09/07/cms-</u> clarifies-definition-hospital-means-primarily-engaged.
- Rose, R., Adams, F., & Johnson, S. (2016). Nurse led, nurse driven service lines: How nurse leaders are navigating change. *Nurse Leader*, 14(3). 195-197. <u>https://www.nurseleader.com/article/S1541-4612(16)00083-5/fulltext</u>
- Ross, T. K. (2014). Health Care Quality: Tools and Applications. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Rozier, M. (2020). Nonprofit Hospital Community Benefit in the U.S.: A Scoping Review From 2010 to 2019. *Frontiers in Public Health* https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.00072
- Rudestam, K. E., & Newton, R. R. (2015). Surviving your dissertation: A comprehensive guide to content and process (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publication.
- Rural Health Information Hub. (2020). Healthcare access to rural communities. <u>https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/case-studies-conversations</u>
- Rural Health Research Centers (2020). HRSA health resources & services administration. <u>https://www.hrsa.gov/grants/find-funding/hrsa-20-035</u>

Rural Health Information Hub. (2020). Texas. www.ruralhealthinfo.org/states/texas

Rushton, A., Gray, L., Canty, J., & Blanchard, K. (2019). Beyond Binary: (Re)Defining "Gender" for 21st Century Disaster Risk Reduction Research, Policy, and Practice. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 16(20), 3984. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16203984</u>

- Santilli, A., Carroll-Scott, A., & Ickovics, J. (2016). Applying community organizing principles to assess health needs in New Haven, Connecticut. <u>American Journal</u> <u>of Public Health</u>, 106(5). <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26985599/</u>
- Santos, J., De Pin, S., Guanilo, M., Balsanelli, A., Erdmann, A., & Ross, R. (2018). Nursing leadership and quality of care in a hospital setting: mixed methods research. www.revistarene,ufc.br.doi:10.15253/2175-6783.201893289
- Sato, F., & Veronesi, G. (2016). Clinical Leadership and hospital performance: assessing the evidence base. BMC Health Services Research, 16(Suppl2); 169. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27230873/</u>
- Sasaki, H., Yonemoto, N., Mori, R., Nishida, T., Kusuda, S., & Nakayama, T. (2017). Assessing archetypes of organizational culture based on the competing values framework: the experimental use of the framework in Japanese neonatal intensive care units. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 29(3), 384-391. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5890871/
- Sexton, D., Lemark, C., & Wainio, J. (2014). Career inflection points of women who successfully achieved the hospital CEO position. *Journal Healthcare Management*. Sep-Oct; 59(5), 367-383. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25647597/

Schober, P., & Vetter, T. R. (2020). Nonparametric statistical methods in medical research. *Anesthesia and analgesia*, 131(6), 1862–1863. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7643794/

Shoreibah, R., Marshall, G., & Gassenheimer, J. (2017). Toward a framework for mixed

gender selling teams and the impact of increased female presence on team performance: Thought development and propositions. *Industrial Marketing Management*. 77, 4-12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.07.016

Silver, J. K., Poorman, J. A., Reilly, J. M., Spector, N. D., Goldstein, R., & Zafonte, R.
D. (2018). Assessment of women physicians among authors of perspective-type articles published in high-impact pediatric journals. *Journal of American Medical Association network open*, 1(3), e180802-e180802.

https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/article-abstract/2688347

- Soklaridis, S., Kuper, A., Whitehead, C., Ferguson, G., Taylor, V., & Zahn, C. (2017).
 Gender bias in hospital leadership: a qualitative study on the experiences of women CEOs. *Journal of Health Organization and Management.* 31(2), 253-268.
 Doi: 10.1108/JHOM-12-2016-0243. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28482773/</u>
- Song, P., Lee, S., Toth, M., Singh, S., & Young, G. (2018). Gender differences in hospital ceo compensation: A national investigation of not-for-profit hospitals. *Medical Care Research and Review*. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29363388/</u>
- Sri, L., & Singh, D. (2015). Delivering health care in America. A systems approach. (6th ed). Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett
- StackExchange. (2021). Cross-validated. Retrieved December 18, 2021. <u>data</u> <u>transformation - Why is gender typically coded 0/1 rather than 1/2, for example? -</u> <u>Cross Validated (stackexchange.com)</u>
- Stryker, S. (2018). Language barriers to gender equity in senior executive leadership. Journal of Management Policy and Practice, 19(1). Pp. 111-120.

https://articlegateway.com/index.php/JMPP/article/view/1273

- Tasi, M., Keswani, A., & Bozic, K. (2019). Does physician leadership affect hospital quality, operational efficiency, and financial performance? *Health Care Management Review*, 44(3), 256-262. Doi: 10.1097/HMR.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/HMR.0000000000000173
- Tench, R., Moreno, A, & Topic, M. (2017). 'Male and female communication, leadership styles and the position of women in public relations' *Interactions: Studies in Communication & Culture*, 8(2), pp.231-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1386/iscc.8.2-</u> <u>3.231_1</u>

Texas Almanac. (2017). Texas facts. https://www.texasalmanac.com/articles/texas-facts

Texas Demographic Center. (2021). <u>https://www.demographics.texas.gov/</u>

Texas Hospital Association (2021). Public list of Texas hospitals.

https://store.tha.org/PersonifyEbusiness/Services/Consumer-Information/Public-

List-of-Texas-Hospitals

Texas Organization of Rural and Community Hospitals (2017). Twenty-Five Things to Know About Texas Rural Hospitals.

https://capitol.texas.gov/tlodocs/85R/handouts/C2102017030910301/be43111de0d4-4de3-bc7d-935d111daced.PDF

United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (2017). "Firms' productivity rises as women become executives," U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics online. .https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat18.htm

employment, wages, and establishments," U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics online. https://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2016/article/nonprofits-in-america.htm.

United States Census Bureau (2019). "Women hold 76% of health care jobs, gaining in higher-Paying Occupations," U.S. Census Bureau.

https://www.census.gov/library/stories/2019/08/your-health-care-in-womenshands.html

- United States Census Bureau (2019). Census Bureau Press Briefing Marks One Year Out From Census Day. <u>https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2019/one-</u> year-out.html
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2020). Texas QuickFacts.

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/TX,US/PST045219

USDA Economic Research Service. (2022)., State Fact Sheets.

https://data.ers.usda.gov/reports.aspx?StateFIPS=48&StateName=Texas&ID=178

<u>54</u>

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2020). Rural action plan.

https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/hhs-rural-action-plan.pdf

Vaughn, L., & Edwards, N. (2020). The problems of smaller, rural, and remote hospitals: Separating facts from fiction. *Future Healthcare Journal*, 7(1).

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7032574/

Wagner, W. (2017). Using IBM SPSS Statistics for Research Methods and Social Science Statistics (6th ed.). Sage.

Walden University. (n.d.j.). Office of student research administration: DHA doctoral

study.

https://academicguides.waldenu.edu/llibrary/publications/DHADoctoralstudy

Walker-Green, B. (2019). Barriers to women's entry for CEO positions: Is sponsorship the answer? <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/2239880845?pq-</u> origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true

WHO-Regional Office for Europe (n.d.) Gender: definitions.

https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/health-determinants/gender/genderdefinitions

- Williams, R., Ludlow, K., Testa, L., Li, Z., & Braithwaite. (2017). Medical Leadership, a systematic narrative review: do hospitals and healthcare organizations perform better when led by doctors? *BMJ Open*, 7, e014474. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28947438/
- Winpenny, E., Corbett, J., Miani, C., King, S., Pitchforth, E., Ling, T., Teijlingen, E., & Nolte, E. (2016). Community hospitals in selected high-income countries: A scoping review of approaches and models. *International Journal of Integrated Care*, *16*(4). <u>http://www.ijic.org/articles/10.5334/ijic.2463/</u>
- Wu, J., Richard, O., Zhang, X., & Macaulay, C. (2019). Top management team surfacelevel diversity, strategic change, and long-term firm performance: A mediated model investigation. *Journal of Leadership & Organizational Studies*, *26*(3), 304– 318. https://doi.org/10.1177/1548051819848997
- Wyland, M. (2017). Million-dollar compensation for nonprofit ceos nonprofit quarterly. https://nonprofitquarterly.org/2017/03/08/million-dollar-compensation-nonprofit-

ceos/